# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 75,719

CBS Inc., Petitioner,

vs.

Kareem Jackson, Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

Initial Brief of Petitioner CBS Inc.

Thomas R. Julin Florida Bar. No. 325376 Steel Hector & Davis Attorneys for CBS Inc. 4000 Southeast Financial Center Miami, Florida 33131-2398 (305) 577-2810

Douglas P. Jacobs Florida Bar No. 0153760 Susanna P. Lowy John W. Zucker CBS Inc. 51 West 52nd Street New York, New York 10019 (212) 975-8758

# TABLE OF CONTENT

	<u>Page</u>
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF FACTS	2
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	7
ARGUMENT	9

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before this Court on the following question, which was certified by a panel of the Fourth District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance:

Does a television journalist have a qualified privilege in a criminal proceeding to refuse to produce non-televised video tapes depicting the defendant in the custody of the police when the defendant requests the tapes in order to assist in the preparation of his defense?

(R. 114). The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's holding that a television journalist has no such privilege. Petitioner CBS Inc. ("CBS") seeks reversal of that holding on the following grounds.

First, lower courts in Florida and throughout the country have recognized that powerful policy reasons support broad application of the qualified reporters' privilege to all journalists' unpublished materials and information, not only identity of confidential sources.

Second, the requirements for overcoming the privilege have clearly not been met in this case. Respondent has failed to demonstrate the relevance of the materials sought, a compelling need for those materials, or the exhaustion of

alternative, nonjournalistic sources.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS1/

Respondent, who has been charged with possession of cocaine, was among the persons arrested in Fort Lauderdale on July 27, 1989 as part of an operation by Broward County police. A CBS News crew videotaped portions of that law enforcement operation and excerpts from those tapes were included in the September 14, 1989 broadcast of the CBS News program 48 HOURS, entitled "Return to Crack Street." (R. 25, 56). The CBS News

The only decision in this case was issued on January 8, 1990 by the Honorable Lavon Ward, Circuit Court, Broward County. (R. 101-103). On February 28, 1990, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied CBS' petition and certified the question addressed herein to this Court. (R. 114). The appellate court issued no opinion. Thus, all references herein to "the lower court's opinion" or "the decision below" refer to Judge Ward's January 8, 1990 order.

The complete record is contained in the appendix which is being filed herewith. The appendix contains: the subpoena; the motion for protective order to quash the subpoena filed by CBS; the affidavits of CBS News producer Barbara Baylor and CBS attorney John Zucker, Esq. in support of CBS' motion; the memorandum of the defendant submitted in support of the subpoena duces tecum; the notice of hearing; the reply memorandum of CBS submitted in further support of its motion; the reply affidavit of Barbara Baylor submitted in further support of CBS' motion; the transcript of the January 4, 1990 hearing before the Honorable Lavon Ward regarding CBS' motion; Judge Ward's decision denying CBS' motion; CBS' motion for a stay pending review of the January 4, 1990 decision; Judge Ward's February 15, 1990 decision granting a stay pending appeal; and the decision of the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District dated February 28, 1990, denying CBS' petition and certifying the question addressed herein to this Court.

crew arrived at the scene of respondent's arrest after he had been apprehended; the crew did not witness or tape, and no materials in CBS' possession show, respondent's activity before the arrest or the manner in which he was apprehended and placed under arrest or the seizure of drugs from the respondent. (R. 26, 57). The outtakes thus contain no direct evidence of the respondent's guilt or innocence and have no apparent relevance to any defense he might raise regarding the circumstances of his arrest.

On November 27, 1989, the respondent served CBS with a subpoena duces tecum, seeking the outtakes regarding him. (R. 21).2/ CBS moved for a protective order to quash the subpoena on December 8, 1989. (R. 3-20). The respondent served a Memorandum In Support of Defendant's Subpoena Duces Tecum on December 28, 1989 (R. 29-48); the respondent filed no affidavit in response to CBS' motion.

The respondent also annexed to his brief the State's Answer to Demand for Discovery which listed, inter alia, four persons with knowledge, police reports, photographs, documents and a statement. (R. 38-39). Defense counsel said that he had

The subpoena actually sought "[a]11 unedited video tapes or film taken on July 27th, 1989 at 629 N.E. 2nd Avenue, Ft. Lauderdale, Florida and the local area of such address for the show 48 Hours entitled 'Return to Crack Street'." (R. 1). After it was served, defense counsel said that the subpoena should be construed as referring only to materials depicting or referring to the respondent which were not broadcast. (R. 21).

taken the deposition of one witness, Officer Howard Rudolph, and had attempted unsuccessfully to locate another police officer whose name the respondent remembered. (R. 30). According to defense counsel, the other three witnesses were not present after respondent's arrest. Id. Officer Rudolph had testified that he had taken a Polaroid picture of the respondent at the time of the arrest. (R. 43-44). According to defense counsel, Officer Rudolph did not recall the names of the other officers present. Id. Officer Rudolph also testified that there were no video cameras present at the time of the arrest. Id. Officer Rudolph was never questioned about what happened subsequent to the respondent's arrest (i.e., about his search or any statements he made). Similarly, Officer Rudolph was not asked whether a CBS crew arrived subsequent to the arrest or whether the crew videotaped any relevant events.

A hearing on CBS' motion was held before Judge Ward on January 4, 1990. (R. 59). Defense counsel offered no specific factual basis for needing the outtake materials from CBS and argued only that he was entitled to the materials because of a perceived possibility that they would be relevant to an as yet unknown defense, but he never explained what defense would be asserted which would be affected by these outtakes. He asserted: "It's the only way I can prepare for this trial. I have no other way -- It's like walking in blind." (R. 86). He repeatedly exclaimed: "I need to see what happened . . . I have

no other source" (R. 73-74, 79), and also said, "[t]here's something called the 4th Amendment." (R. 73).

The public defender acknowledged that he had not yet made a motion to suppress or any other motion alleging that the defendant's arrest was unlawful, that he had been beaten by the police, that he had not been read his Miranda warnings, or that his Fourth Amendment rights had been violated in any way.

Defense counsel referred to his "need to see where the cocaine was possibly found" (R. 77) -- ignoring CBS' sworn and uncontroverted representation that it did not witness the seizure of the drugs. (R. 26, 57).3/

On January 8, 1990, Judge Ward issued a decision and order denying CBS' motion. (R. 101-103). The Court held that it "declines to create what would ultimately be a work product privilege as to all information learned, or obtained by a journalist while on a news gathering mission" (R. 102) and further held that "had the Court found the qualified journalist privilege applicable, the Defendant, as evidenced by the record, overcame the burden necessary to overcome the privilege." (Id). The Court did not elaborate or make any findings as to how the defendant had overcome the privilege.

At the hearing, defense counsel quoted his client saying to him that "they started filming" when he was "slammed up against the car." (R. 76). This is not sufficient to contradict CBS' sworn affidavits as well as the testimony of Officer Rudolph (see discussion infra at 27-29).

On January 11, 1990, after CBS had been denied a copy of the transcript of the January 4 hearing by the court reporter because juvenile proceedings are sealed, Judge Korda held a hearing, which he called <u>sua sponte</u>, on whether the transcript of the hearing should be released to CBS. (R. 106). At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Korda ordered that the transcript should be released to CBS. He also held that CBS could not have access to Kareem Jackson's court file. (<u>Id</u>.)

On January 12, 1990, Judge Miller conducted a calendar call and continued the trial of Kareem Jackson to February 16, 1990. (Id.) $\frac{4}{}$ 

On January 12, 1990, CBS made a motion for a stay of Judge Ward's January 4, 1990 decision and order. (R. 104-113). This motion was granted on February 15, 1990. CBS sought appellate review of Judge Ward's January 8, 1990 order on January 22, 1990.

On February 28, 1990, the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District denied CBS' petition for writ of certiorari and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Does a television journalist have a qualified privilege in a criminal proceeding to refuse to produce

That calendar call was either routine or precipitated by the public defender's application for a continuance -- CBS was advised by the public defender's office of the calendar call on January 11, 1990, at which time the public defender also stated a continuance would be sought.

non-televised video tapes depicting the defendant in the custody of the police when the defendant requests the tapes in order to assist in the preparation of his defense?

(R. 114).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: A. Florida courts, as well as courts throughout the country, have established a qualified privilege which protects a journalist's unpublished materials and which can only be overcome if the subpoenaing party demonstrates: (1) the information sought is relevant and material to the defendant's proof of his defense to the offense charged; (2) alternative, nonjournalistic sources have been exhausted; and (3) there is a compelling need for the information sufficient to override the journalist's privilege.

B. The court below misconstrued Florida law when it held that the subpoenaed outtakes are not protected by the journalist's privilege because they do not involve a confidential source, and when it relied on two cases (one of which is now pending before this Court) \( \frac{5}{\sqrt{}} \) which carved out a limited exception to the journalist's privilege for cases which involve a journalist's "eyewitness testimony" or "physical evidence" of a crime -- facts which clearly are not present

<sup>5/</sup> Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Morejon, 529 So.2d 1204 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Case No. 73,195, DCA 87-1903.

here. However the Court deals with this question in Morejon, the present case is not one in which the journalist has physical evidence of or was a witness to a crime -- to the contrary, CBS' sworn affidavits attest that the news crew arrived on the scene of the respondent's arrest after he had been apprehended. The crew did not witness, and certainly could not have filmed, the placing of the respondent under arrest or the seizure of drugs from the respondent. Moreover, the respondent has filed no motions or sworn affidavits alleging that the arrest was illegal, that the evidence seized should be suppressed, or that anything happened after the arrest that was relevant to his defense (e.g., that he was beaten by the police).

Point II: The court below erred when it held -without making a single specific finding and based on a record
devoid of any sworn factual representations by the respondent
and any compelling need articulated by his counsel -- that if
there is a qualified journalist's privilege, the respondent made
a showing sufficient to satisfy the three-part test. The
circuit court should have quashed the subpoena because the
unrefuted record affirmatively shows that CBS did not witness or
tape respondent's activity before the arrest or the manner in
which he was apprehended and placed under arrest or the seizure
of cocaine from the respondent. The outtakes cannot contain
evidence of the respondent's guilt or innocence and have no
apparent relevance to any defense he might raise regarding the
circumstances of his arrest.

Moreover, the record reveals that there are alternative nonjournalistic sources which the respondent has not pursued (e.g., police records; the photograph of the respondent taken by one of the police officers present at the time of the arrest; the witnesses, documents, statements, and police reports listed on the State's Answer to Demand for Discovery; and other officers, arrestees and witnesses present after respondent's arrest). Of course, the respondent also has his own testimony available as a source.

As discussed in detail below and as revealed in the appendix submitted herewith, the lower court's decision must be reversed and the subpoena quashed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

CBS' OUTTAKES ARE PROTECTED
FROM COMPELLED DISCLOSURE BY THE QUALIFIED
JOURNALIST'S PRIVILEGE UNDER THE FIRST
AMENDMENT AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

A. A Qualified Privilege Protects <u>All</u> Of a Journalist's Unpublished Materials

It is well-established that journalists are accorded a qualified privilege under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution which protects from disclosure their unpublished materials (such as that sought by the present subpoena). The

journalist's privilege reflects the vital, constitutionally protected role of an independent and vigorous press. As the United States Supreme Court stated in <u>Branzburg v. Hayes</u>, 408 U.S. 665, 681 (1972), "without some protection for seeking out the news, freedom of the press could be eviscerated."

In the years since <u>Branzburg</u>, most courts that have considered the question have held that journalists have a qualified First Amendment privilege against compelled disclosure of their sources and materials. The privilege has been recognized repeatedly by the Florida state courts. 6/ The privilege has also been recognized by the Court of Appeals for

<sup>6/</sup> See, e.g., Morgan v. State, 337 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976); Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986); Johnson v. Bentley, 457 So.2d 507 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Times Publishing Co. v. Burke, 375 So.2d 297 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Tribune Co. v. Green, 440 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 447 So. 2d 886 (Fla. 1984); Gadsden County Times, Inc. v. Horne, 426 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA), pet. denied, 441 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1983); State v. Widel, 15 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1711 (Fla. 9th Cir. 1988); State v. Kersey, 14 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 2352 (Fla. 6th Cir. 1987); State v. Lee, 14 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1863 (Fla. 3d Cir. 1987); State v. Williams, 12 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1783 (Fla. Cty. Ct. Broward County 1986); State v. Crawford, 12 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1309 (Fla. 17th Cir. 1985); State v. DiBattisto, 11 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1396 (Fla. Cir. Ct. Dade County 1984); Sunset Chevrolet v. Heiden, 14 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1252 (Fla. 12th Cir. 1987); <u>Damico v. Lemen</u>, 14 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1031 (Fla. 13th Cir. 1987); Bartsch v. Southland Corp., 13 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 2165 (Fla. 9th Cir. 1987); Miller v. Richardson, 13 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1235 (Fla. 11th Cir. 1986).

the Fifth Circuit, 7 in decisions that have been adopted as controlling in the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit; 8 by Florida federal courts; 9 and by numerous other courts throughout the country. 10 Forty-three states have recognized a common law qualified privilege for journalists

Miller v. See In re Selcraig, 705 F.2d 789 (5th Cir. 1983); Miller v. Transamerican Press, Inc., 621 F.2d 721 (5th Cir.), modified on rehearing, 628 F.2d 932 (5th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 1041 (1981).

See Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc) (adopting as precedent decisions of the former Fifth Circuit rendered before October 1, 1981).

See, e.g., United States v. Accardo, 11 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1102 (S.D. Fla. 1984); United States v. Paez, 13 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1973 (S.D. Fla. 1987); United States v. Harris, 11 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1399 (S.D. Fla. 1985); United States v. Horne, 11 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1312 (N.D. Fla. 1985); United States v. Blanton, 534 F. Supp. 295 (S.D. Fla. 1982); Loadholtz v. Fields, 389 F. Supp. 1299 (M.D. Fla. 1975).

<sup>10/</sup> See, e.g., O'Neill v. Oakgrove Construction, Inc., 71 N.Y.2d 521, 528 N.Y.S. 2d 1, 523 N.E.2d 277 (1988); Miller v. Mecklenburg County, 602 F.Supp. 675 (W.D.N.C. 1985); Continental Cablevision v. Storer Broadcasting, 583 F. Supp. 427 (E.D.Mo. 1984); United States v. Morison, 12 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1425 (D.Md. 1985); Altemose Construction Co. v. Building & Construction Trades Councel, 443 F. Supp. 489 (E.D.Pa. 1977); Hallissy v. Superior Court, 200 Cal.App.3d 1038, 248 Cal. Rptr. 635 (1988); Zerrilli v. Smith, 656 F.2d 705 (D.C. Cir. 1981); <u>United States v. Burke</u>, 700 F.2d 70 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 816 (1983); United States v. Cuthbertson, 651 F.2d 189 (3d Cir.), cert. denied <u>sub nom., Cuthbertson v. CBS, Inc.,</u> 454 U.S. 1056 (1981). See generally State v. DiBattisto, 11 Media L. Rep. (BNA) at 1397 n.1 ("Courts throughout the country have recognized the reporter's qualified privilege from compelled testimony.").

and/or enacted a journalists' shield law. 11/ The First

Amendment privilege has also been recognized by at least nine of the federal circuit courts of appeals. 12/

The two Florida Supreme Court decisions which addressed the journalist's privilege both involved confidential sources. Tribune v. Huffstetler, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986); Morgan v. State, 37 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976). The Court, therefore, has not squarely ruled on the applicability of the privilege to other unpublished information and materials obtained or prepared in the course of newsgathering. However, as discussed below, numerous lower court decisions in Florida have so applied the privilege 13/ as have most federal and state courts across the country which have considered the issue.

As these courts have recognized, the rationale behind the privilege warrants its application to both confidential and nonconfidential materials: The forced disclosure of any unpublished journalistic work product or information interferes with the newsgathering and editorial functions of an independent press, regardless of whether a source's confidences are at

<sup>11/</sup> J. Goodale, Reporter's Privilege Cases, Communications Law
1989 (PLI).

<sup>12/</sup> Id.

See, e.g., Johnson v. Bentley, 457 So.2d 507 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Tribune Co. v. Green, 440 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); State v. Crawford, 12 Media L. Rptr. 1309 (Fla. 17th Cir. 1985); State v. Abreu, 16 Media L. Rptr. 2494 (1989); and other cases cited in n.6 supra.

stake. As the New York Court of Appeals said in O'Neill v.

Oakgrove Construction, Inc., 71 N.Y.2d 521, 527, 528 N.Y.S.2d 1,

3, 523 N.E.2d 277, 279 (1988):

[C]onfidentiality or the lack thereof has little, if anything, to do with the burdens on the time and resources of the press that would inevitably result from discovery without special restrictions. 14/

In Loadholtz v. Fields, 389 F.Supp. 1299 (M.D.Fla. 1975), the court quashed a civil plaintiff's subpoena to compel a reporter to testify about and produce notes of an interview with the defendant. Although no confidential source or off-the-record information was sought, the court held that this was

utterly irrelevant to the chilling effect that the enforcement of these subpoenas would have on the flow of information to the press and to the public. The compelled production of a reporter's resource materials is equally as invidious as the compelled disclosure of his confidential informants.

Id. at 1303. Similarly, in <u>United States v. Cuthbertson</u>, 630 F.2d 139 (3d Cir. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>sub. nom.</u>, <u>Cuthbertson v. CBS, Inc.</u>, 449 U.S. 1126 (1981), the court held that the First Amendment protected against disclosure of film outtakes from interviews with named sources:

<sup>14/</sup> This year New York amended its shield law incorporating O'Neill and extended its protection to all nonconfidential, as well as confidential, unpublished information. N.Y. Civil Rights Law § 79-h (McKinney 1970, as amended March 23, 1990).

We do not think that the privilege can be limited solely to protection of sources. The compelled production of a reporter's resource materials can constitute a significant intrusion into the newsgathering and editorial processes. Like the compelled disclosure of confidential sources, it may substantially undercut the public policy favoring the free flow of information to the public that is the foundation of the privilege.

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