IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 75,719

CBS Inc.,
Petitioner,

vs.

Kareem Jackson,
Respondent.

FILED

ED. J. WHITE

MAY 18 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Deputy Clerk

On Review from the District Court
of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

Respondent's Answer Brief

ALAN H. SCHREIBER
Public Defender
17th Judicial Circuit
Broward County Courthouse
201 S.E. 6th Street, Rm 740
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
33301
(305) 357-8834

ALAN S. LEVINE
Assistant Public Defender
Juvenile Division
400 S.E. 6th Street
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
33301
(305) 765-4133

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I.

The Circuit Court correctly interpreted Florida case law and properly held that the journalist's privilege does not include the protection of non-confidential sources of information.

The Florida Supreme Court found that a journalist does have a qualified privilege under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution to refuse to testify in a criminal or civil proceeding regarding information learned from confidential news sources. In creating the privilege the Supreme Court of Florida recognized the underlying rationale for such a qualified privilege that news gathering is an essential precondition to the dissemination of news

and that without some protection for seeking out the news, freedom of the press could be eviscerated. The asserted claim to privilege should be judged on its facts by the striking of a proper balance between freedom of the press and the obligation of all citizens to give relevant testimony with respect to criminal conduct.

The Florida Supreme Court found this limited and qualified privilege is applied by weighing the reporter's privilege to protect confidential sources against the public interest in the particular case ultimately striking a proper balance between constitutional and societal interests. The Florida Supreme Court has not extended this analysis to include non-confidential sources of information

In reviewing the case law of the Florida District Courts it must be noted that only the Second District Court of Appeals has extended the privilege to include non-confidential sources of information. However the Fourth District Court found the opposite result and made a distinction between information gained from confidential sources and physical evidence of a crime and held that the latter is not protected information under the privilege. The Third District Court found that the qualified journalist privilege established by the Supreme Court of Florida has

utterly no application to information learned by a journalist as a result of being an eyewitness to a relevant event in a subsequent court proceeding. The journalist's privilege should not be extended to include all non-confidential sources of information and evidence so as to create a work product privilege for journalists. The underlying rationale for creating the news journalist's qualified privilege for confidential news sources does not apply to most non-confidential sources of information. Confidential news sources are likely to be reluctant to work with reporters if disclosed. However, non-confidential news sources are unlikely to disappear if journalists are required to testify concerning such sources and information; therefore, the newsgathering and dissemination process will not be threatened by such disclosure. The ability of the journalist to gather and report on a witnessed event is not threatened by requiring the disclosure of what was seen through the eye of a camera. No free-press interests are imperiled.

Since CBS video tapes are in no way protecting any type of confidential sources and merely depict witnessed events, the order entered by Judge Ward should be upheld and the subpoena enforced.

Point II.

The Circuit Court was correct in holding that had the journalist privilege been applicable the defendant satisfied the necessary burden to overcome the privilege. The circuit court's finding do not have to be articulated if evidenced by the recorded. The Florida Supreme Court has not varied the balancing process used in determining whether the journalist privilege, when applicable, has been overcome. In determining the proper balance between the interest of the press and the party seeking disclosure the court must address the following issues: (1) is the information relevant, (2) can the information be obtained by alternative means, and (3) is there a compelling interest in the information? These questions represent elements that the court must consider but do not establish a three-part test which the party seeking information from the journalist must satisfy in order to obtain such information.

As to the first element of relevance, the actions of the officers after the apprehension and handcuffing is relevant for purposes of the legality of searches or questioning which may have taken place. Also, In light of Officer Rudolphs lack of memory, the video outtakes become

highly relevant in that they will provide information as to other sources of information.

Referring to the second element Officer Rudolph was the only individual provided to defense counsel by the State who had any personal knowledge of the alleged offense - his lack of memory prevents him from revealing other alternative sources of information. Further, defense counsel spoke with defendant for more possible information. The defendant remembered a Sgt. John Burnell being present at the arrest. Defense Counsel issued a subpoena for deposition to Sgt. Burnell and found he was not a member of the Broward County Sheriff's office and therefore the subpoena could not be served. Defense counsel attempted to locate Sgt. Burnell by contacting other police stations but was unsuccessful.

The information sought is clearly of compelling interest to the defendant. It is the only source of information defendant has to possibly determine what took place on July 27, 1989 or to find other officers which may have knowledge of the incident. This is not merely a "fishing expedition" for evidence. It is a necessary step in defendant's due and proper preparation for trial. Further, Kareem's liberty, standing alone, creates a compelling need for the information.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT THE SUPOENAED MATERIALS ARE NOT PROTECTED FROM COMPELLED DISCLOSURE BY THE QUALIFIED JOURNALIST'S PRIVILEGE UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

- A. The Circuit Court Correctly Interpreted Florida Case Law and Properly Held The Journalist's Privilege Does Not Include The Protection Of Non-confidential Sources Of Information.

The unpublished video out-takes requested by the defendant are not protected by the Journalist's Privilege found under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution.

The United States Supreme Court first addressed the issue of whether a reporter had a privilege in Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 92 S.Ct. 2646, 33 L.Ed.2d 626 (1972). Justice White, in his plurality-majority decision, found the hindrance of testifying before grand juries too insubstantial and speculative to overcome the paramount public interest in prosecuting crime. 408 U.S. at 695. Further, he reasoned that judges supervising grand

juries would be sufficiently sensitive to the First Amendment to minimize the danger of abuse. Id. at 707-708.

Three other justices concurred with Justice White to find there was no reporter's privilege. Three justices found a qualified privilege and one an absolute privilege. Justice Powell, in his pivotal opinion concurring with Justice White, implied there may be some form of privilege to be considered on a case-by-case basis. Justice Powell stated:

"The asserted claim to privilege should be judged on its facts by the striking of a proper balance between freedom of the press and the obligation of all citizens to give relevant testimony with respect to criminal conduct. The balance of these vital constitutional and societal interests on a case-by-case basis accords with the tried and traditional way of adjudicating such questions."

Id. at 710. In Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 U.S. 547 (1978), Justice Powell had the opportunity to revisit his opinion in Branzburg and wrote:

"The concurring opinion in Branzburg v. Hayes...does not support the view that the Fourth Amendment contains an implied exception for the press, through the operation of the First Amendment. The opinion noted only that in considering a motion to quash a subpoena directed to a newsman, the court should balance the competing values of a free press and the societal interest in detecting and prosecuting crime."

Id. at 570-571, fn.3.

In Liggett v. Kern County Superior Court, 16 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 2006 (Cal. Ct. App. 5th dist. 1989), A cameraman was subpoenaed to give oral testimony regarding an auto accident which he filmed and witnessed. The court, after a full discussion of Branzburg stated:

"Even if Justice Powell's concurrence in Branzburg can be interpreted as recognizing a First Amendment newsperson's privilege for confidential sources, there are no special First Amendment procedural safeguards beyond traditional judicial proceedings for protecting the privilege."

Id. at 2009. The California court further went on to adopt the position cited in Tribe, American Constitutional Law (2d ed. 1988) 12-22, 976 and stated "We agree with Professor Tribe's assessment and conclude that the First Amendment does not shield Gregerson from disclosing information based on a happenstance observation of an accident occurring in public." Id. at 2010.

Contrary to the Petitioner's position, Florida case law limits the privilege to allow for protection of confidential sources only. In Morgan v. State, 337 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976), The Florida Supreme Court expanded the United States Supreme Court decision of Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 92 S.Ct.

2646, 33 L.Ed.2d 626 (1972) finding that a journalist does have a qualified privilege under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution to refuse to testify in a criminal or civil proceeding regarding information learned from confidential news sources. Id. In creating the privilege the Supreme Court of Florida recognized the underlying rationale for such a qualified privilege is that "news gathering [is] an essential precondition to [the] dissemination of news..." and that "without some protection for seeking out the news, freedom of the press could be eviscerated". Morgan, 337 So.2d at 954 (quoting Branzburg, 408 U.S. at 681, 92 S.Ct. at 2656, 33 L.Ed.2d at 639). The Morgan court then embraced Mr. Justice Powell's assertion in his concurring opinion in Branzburg and found that "[t]he asserted claim to privilege should be judged on its facts by the striking of a proper balance between freedom of the press and the obligation of all citizens to give relevant testimony with respect to criminal conduct." Morgan, at 954 (quoting Branzburg, 408 U.S. at 709, 92 S.Ct. at 2671, 33 L.Ed.2d at 656). With this rationale in mind, The Florida Supreme Court in Morgan held that a privilege does exist to refuse to divulge the identity of a confidential news source to a grand jury investigating a

disclosure to the journalist of a sealed grand jury presentment.

The Florida Supreme Court also used the same rationale and balancing analysis as stated in Morgan in Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986). In Huffstetler the Florida Supreme Court found a privilege to refuse to divulge the identity of a confidential source to a state attorney investigating a disclosure of a complaint filed before the state ethics commission. The court stated: "Much like the situation in Morgan, the principle interest...amounts to a private interest in reputation. When balancing [this interest]...against Tunstall's first amendment rights, Morgan mandates that the first amendment prevail." Id. at 724.

In Both Morgan and Huffstetler the Florida Supreme Court found this limited and qualified privilege is applied by weighing the reporters privilege to protect confidential sources against the public interest in the particular case ultimately striking a proper balance between constitutional and societal interests. In each case, the Court concluded that the free press interests involved in protecting the confidential news source outweighed the public interest furthered by the non-criminal investigations. This

journalistic privilege involves the protection of confidential sources. The Florida Supreme Court has not and should not extended this analysis to include non-confidential sources of information.

In reviewing the case law of the Florida District Courts it must be noted that only the Second District Court of Appeals has extended the privilege to include non-confidential sources of information. In Tribune Co. v. Green, 440 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983) rev. denied, 447 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984), the Second District Court found the privilege includes the right of a journalist to refuse to testify in a criminal case concerning conversations had with a defendant and a known third party. Also in Johnson v. Bently, 457 So.2d 507 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984), the Second District Court held the privilege includes the right to refuse to produce photographs of an auto accident when ordered pursuant to civil pretrial discovery.

However the Fourth District Court found the opposite result in Satz v. News and Sun-Sentinel Co., 484 So.2d 590 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). In Satz a journalist was subpoenaed to produce photographic evidence of a crime. The court made the distinction between information gained from confidential sources and physical evidence of a crime and found that the

latter is not protected information under the privilege. Also in Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. Morejon 529 So.2d 1204 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988) the Third District Court found that "the qualified journalist privilege established in Morgan and Huffstetler has utterly no application to information learned by a journalist as a result of being an eyewitness to a relevant event in a subsequent court proceeding,..." Id. at 1208.

As the Court in Morejon noted, Morgan and Huffstetler should not be extended to include all non-confidential sources of information and evidence so as to create, in effect, an across-the-board work product privilege for journalists. Id. at 1207. The underlying rationale for creating the news journalist's qualified privilege for confidential news sources does not apply to most non-confidential sources of information or other like physical evidence. Id. Confidential news sources are likely to be reluctant to work with reporters if disclosed. However, non-confidential news sources are unlikely to disappear if journalists are required to testify concerning such sources and information; therefore, the newsgathering and dissemination process will not be threatened by such disclosure. Id. Further, as stated by the Third District Court in Morejon and Judge Ward in his Order:

"Just as any other private citizen is expected to give his eyewitness testimony to such relevant events in subsequent court proceedings, so, too, give similiar testimony. The fact that the journalist is on a news gathering mission when he or she witnesses such a relevant event cannot change this result because the ability of the journalist to gather and report on the witnessed event is not substantially threatened by requiring the disclosure of what no substantial free-press interest are imperiled. Moreover the fact that it is inconvenient for a journalist to respond to a witness subpoena and give his eyewitness testimony is of no constitutional significance; all persons who witness such events are equally inconvenienced by having to respond to such witness subpoenas, and a journalist occupies no privileged position in this respect from any other person in the community." Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. Morejon, 529 So. 2d 1204,1208 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988).

Lastly, quoting from Judge Ward's Order: "The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I Section 16, of the Florida Constitution both provide that an accused in a criminal proceeding shall have the right of compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor. When a conflict arises between these constitutional provisions and shield laws, such as a qualified journalist privilege, deference must fall upon the rights of the accused."

In sum, the Supreme Court of the United States has never found any type of privilege to exist for journalists. Florida has only held that the journalists privilege can be

used only to protect confidential sources of information. The Supreme Court of Florida has not expanded this view. The Second District Court is the only Florida District to expand the privilege to include other non-confidential sources of information. The Third and Fourth District Courts have declined to extend the privilege for reasons stated above.

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